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Thursday, May 8, 2008


--- On commencing at 9:15 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  Today is day 6 of cross-examination in the Ontario Energy Board's hearing EB-2007-0050.  The hearing is in regard to Hydro One's application for leave to construct a transmission line between the Bruce Power facility and the Milton Switching Station, and to make modifications to certain transmission stations.


We are going to continue with cross-examination today with panel 2.  Are there any preliminary matters before we begin?


No?  Mr. Nettleton, do you want to introduce your panel?


MR. NETTLETON:  I do, Madam Chair.  It is my privilege to introduce to you panel 2.  Panel 2 comprises of two witnesses, one who you have seen and heard throughout this process to date, and that's Mr. Bob Chow.  Mr. Chow is still under oath and there is no need for me to deal further with Mr. Chow's credentials.  They were all on the record in panel 1.


Seated beside Mr. Chow is Mr. Dennis Woodford.  Mr. Woodford is president of Electranix Corporation, a consulting firm that has been retained by the OPA for purposes related to a request for proposal process, and he is the -- one the co-authors of the report that has been filed in response to an interrogatory that was filed as part of Exhibit C, tab 4, schedule 6.  And that report, as you know, is entitled:  "A due diligence study and development of high-level planning specifications for the installation of 500 kV series capacitor banks in the southwestern Ontario transmission network", and it is dated October 5th, 2007.


Madam Chair, normally my practice, as applicant counsel, is to minimize any examination-in-chief of applicant witnesses, because the applicant's case has already been effectively prefiled.  In these circumstances, however, I am asking, with your leave to have the opportunity to conduct some examination-in-chief of Mr. Woodford, and I ask that request primarily because Mr. Woodford's report has been filed as part of an interrogatory response.


I think it may shed some light and help the Board understand the process that was undertaken by the OPA in respect of the preparation of that report and what was studied.  So with your leave, I will do that.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  Might Mr. Woodford be sworn?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 2


Robert Chow, Previously Sworn


Dennis Woodford, Sworn
Examination-in-chief by Mr. Nettleton:


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Woodford, do you have before you the documents entitled "Written Direct Evidence of Dennis A. Woodford" that was included as part of Exhibit A-5-3, and also the curriculum vitae of Dennis Woodford that was marked as Exhibit A-5-4 at page 12?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Woodford, were those -- oh, also, do you have before you Exhibit C, tab 4, schedule 6, which is the report that I referred to in my introductory remarks?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Woodford, can you confirm that those documents were prepared by you or under your direction and control?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Do you have any revisions or corrections to make to those documents?


MR. WOODFORD:  No.


MR. NETTLETON:  Do you, therefore -- can you, therefore, agree that those documents are accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes, I can.


MR. NETTLETON:  Do you, therefore, accept those documents as your evidence in this proceeding?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Chow, I can confirm with you that you are still sworn under oath?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chow, I thought, in terms of just the chronology of the events here that has led to having panel 2 make -- made available to parties in this proceeding, we could start with just some general questions regarding a request for proposal process that the OPA, the Ontario Power Authority, conducted.


Do you have before you Exhibit C, tab 4, schedule 9?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  And that document -- can you inform the Board and parties what that document concerns?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  It is a terms of reference of a study, the title of the study is:  A due diligence study, development of high-level planning specifications for the installation of 500 kV series capacitor banks in the southwestern Ontario transmission network.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  Mr. Chow, can you confirm that the date of that request for proposal terms of reference was March 1, 2007?


MR. CHOW:  I confirm.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chow, what were the objectives that you were seeking in respect of having this study carried out?


MR. CHOW:  The objective of the -- of that study are listed in page 1 of Exhibit C-4-9.


MR. NETTLETON:  And -- sorry, go ahead, Mr. Chow.


MR. CHOW:  If you scroll down to the terms of reference itself -- yes.  Yes.  Thank you.


Under the "Purpose", there is a paragraph which starts off with, "OPA seeks consulting services", and it lists four objectives for that study.


I will summarize what they are.  The first one is to review and make recommendation on the appropriateness of the proposed series capacitor application for Ontario's southwestern Ontario system.


Two is to provide information on specific performance and reliability concerns on the series capacitors.


Third is to review a consultation study on subsynchronous resonance as completed, and that's the ABB study that was done for Hydro One Networks.


Fourthly is to prepare a high-level preliminary planning specification for those series capacitors.


Those are the four objectives of the due diligence study.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Woodford, as I understand it, you were the -- in effect, the -- you were awarded a contract from the OPA in respect of this request for proposal terms of reference process; is that fair?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  And your study was prepared, was it, to meet the purposes of the -- and objectives of the request for proposal which Mr. Chow just described?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  And, sir, can you summarize the conclusions that you have reached in respect of your study?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes, I will.  The conclusions are detailed on page 52 and 53 of the reference report.


However, let me summarize some of the main issues.  Firstly, one, series compensation technology is a well-known technology and, in our view, can be used in southwestern Ontario, but significant studies are required to do this.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Woodford, you understand, do you, that the purpose of this proceeding, this Ontario Energy Board proceeding, is in respect of an application for facilities concerning a transmission line between Bruce to Milton?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  And was your report prepared in respect of that application, to your knowledge?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chow, was the purpose of your request for proposal related to the Bruce-to-Milton path?


MR. CHOW:  No.  The due diligence study was a study that take a look at, if series capacitors were to be installed in southwestern Ontario, to increase its transfer capability, what are some of the concerns?  Is it appropriate technology to be used for the system?  And if in fact the series capacitors were going to be installed, what are some of the features of that capacitor bank that should be included in the design of that facility?


MR. NETTLETON:  So Mr. Woodford, was your study in any way limited to the Bruce-to-Milton path, in respect of series compensation?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. WOODFORD:  We were asked to look at the series compensation applied to the Bruce-to-Longwood-to-Nanticoke.


MR. NETTLETON:  And Mr. Chow, is that what you were referring to with respect to the southwest Ontario region,  as that term is found in your request for proposal?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Woodford, you mentioned studies as one of the main conclusions in your report.


Can you provide a little more detail about the nature of the studies and the extent of the studies that you are envisioning as being required.


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.  The studies are listed in quite some detail on page 45 of our report, under section 5.4.  But there are significant studies that need to be undertaken if we apply series compensation on the lines under consideration.


And these include subsynchronous resonance studies, in order to protect generators from failure; transient stability, to ensure that the system stays stable and that the lights stay on; there's protection studies.  Each of these are fairly intensive studies, but by no means all that need to be done.


MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Woodford, one of the purposes set out in the terms of reference related to a review of a consultation study that had been conducted on subsynchronous resonance completed for Hydro One Networks.


Did you carry out that review?


MR. WOODFORD:  As part of our undertaking, we did review that study.  It was a comprehensive study, but it was outdated, according to our terms of reference.


For example, it looked at 50 percent or more series compensation.  Our terms of reference were to 30 percent.  Although the procedures and techniques were correct, they still -- they did not apply to the terms of -- to the conditions we were looking at.


MR. NETTLETON:  And, sir, did you make any conclusions or recommendations in your report regarding any need for additional study on the subsynchronous resonance issue?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  And what were those conclusions, sir?


MR. WOODFORD:  That extensive subsynchronous resonance studies must be repeated under the conditions that will be applied for this possible application.


MR. NETTLETON:  The other purpose that is set out in the terms of reference, again, filed as Exhibit C, tab 4, Schedule 9, was the preparation of a high-level preliminary planning specification for the series capacitors.


Mr. Woodford, did you carry out that objective?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  And can you show us where, in your report, you have indicated that preliminary high-level planning spec?


MR. WOODFORD:  That is starting on page 5, section -- sorry, section 5, page 41.


MR. NETTLETON:  And, sir, as part of that high-level preliminary planning specification, did you consider the time required to implement series capacitors in southwestern Ontario?


MR. WOODFORD:  We did.  Yes, we did.  We looked at the time required to implement series capacitors.  And that is shown on page 14 of our report.


MR. NETTLETON:  And, sir, can you summarize the amount of time that, in your opinion, is required to implement, from that diagram, the time to implement the series capacitor technology?


MR. WOODFORD:  Starting from the writing of the technical specification, through to its commercial operation, it's about two-and-a-half years.


MR. NETTLETON:  And Mr. Woodford, can you confirm that that chart, that time period, does or does not take into account the requirement of further study?


MR. WOODFORD:  It does not take into account requirement for studies that are needed ahead of time before you commence the -- writing the technical specification.


MR. NETTLETON:  So, sir, is it fair to say that the studies that you are recommending that be carried out would be happening at the front end, if you will, of that, what I will call a Venn diagram?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  So the scheduling would be additive then to the two-and-a-half-year estimate that you have shown in your Figure 1.2.4.2?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  And so have you considered the time that would be required to carry out the studies that you have included in your recommendations, sir?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  And --


MR. WOODFORD:  Sorry.


MR. NETTLETON:  And can you elaborate on what that time is?


MR. WOODFORD:  In my consideration, that time would be about one year.


MR. NETTLETON:  And so with that one-year study period, there would be, in effect, a three-and-a-half-year period of time required to implement the commercial operation of series capacitors?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Now, from your chart, Mr. Woodford, did you take into account any regulatory approvals that may be required in respect of the implementation of series capacitor technology?


MR. WOODFORD:  No.  The chart on page 14 assumes that there is no regulatory -- that all of regulatory approvals have been received.


MR. NETTLETON:  And, sir, can you confirm that series capacitors -- that the actual technology requires construction activities at or along the transmission system?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Now, Mr. Woodford, I would like to take you back, if I could, to the terms of reference again.


And if I could take you to -- it's Adobe page 8.  It's the last page, sir.


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  It's under the heading "deliverables".  Do you have that?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Could you please comment on what steps you took to meet the deliverables that are contained and described therein in this request-for-proposal document.


MR. WOODFORD:  We prepared a mid-term progress report, as requested.  Then a draft report was submitted to the OPA for their review.  Finally, we submitted a final report.


MR. NETTLETON:  Sir, from your final report that has been filed as part of Exhibit C, tab 4, schedule 6, you will confirm with me that that final report is dated October 5th, 2007?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  And that's different from the date that is prescribed in this deliverable, in this request for proposal?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Why is that, sir?


MR. WOODFORD:  There were delays.  I might ask Mr. Chow to elaborate on that.


MR. CHOW:  The timeline, as originally drafted, was quite ambitious.  The consultants were contracted at that time, in the spring.  The OPA was in the midst of preparing the IPSP.  So there is -- essentially there was delay in the process, on the OPA end, providing a timeline necessary to review and feed back to Mr. Woodford.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Woodford, when did you prepare your mid-term progress report?


MR. WOODFORD:  The mid-term progress report, I can't exactly remember.  I think it was around May 2007.


MR. NETTLETON:  What steps, if any, sir, did you take with the OPA after you provided the progress report?


MR. WOODFORD:  We carried on to finish the first draft for the final report.


MR. NETTLETON:  And when did you provide or submit that draft report to the OPA for its review?


MR. WOODFORD:  It was the end of June 2007.


MR. NETTLETON:  And did you take any steps, other than provide a draft report to the OPA, after June and before October 5th when you submitted the final report?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  What steps were those, Mr. Woodford?


MR. WOODFORD:  On the 3rd of July, I was invited to review the final report or the draft report in OPA's offices here in Toronto.


MR. NETTLETON:  And who attended that meeting, sir?


MR. WOODFORD:  There were members of OPA, IESO and Hydro One.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Woodford, what happened following that meeting?  Did you have any further communications with the OPA?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.  We received some instructions or guidance from Jim Lee both verbally, and, we also received a copy of the draft report that we had submitted with comments added to the text for our consideration.


MR. NETTLETON:  And, sir, in your final report, there is a page that is marked page 4, and I believe this is of the summary. There is reference to acknowledgements.


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Do you see that?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  The second sentence states:

"The comments received from OPA, Hydro One and the IESO significantly enhanced this work."


Do you see that?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  What did you mean by that statement?


MR. WOODFORD:  Our meeting July 3rd, where those representatives were in attendance, was a very useful and helpful discussion, which was what this acknowledgement is representing.


MR. NETTLETON:  You indicated, sir, that you were -- or you received instruction from Mr. Lee in respect of the comments that were provided to you on the draft report.


Did you at any time or were you under any obligation, Mr. Woodford, to include the comments that had been provided to you from Mr. Lee, or, for that matter, from anyone from the OPA, Hydro One or the IESO, as conclusions or statements in your final report?


MR. WOODFORD:  No, but some of those comments were very useful, and I will give as an example, in our final report, we have a list, a check list, which was suggested would be useful for the report, and we heartily agreed.


And you can see this from page 49 onwards, and I think it substantially improved the value of the report, near the bottom of the page.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Woodford.


Thank you, Madam Chair.  This panel is available for cross-examination.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Have the parties determined an order of cross-examination?


MR. PAPE:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I am going to begin cross-examination, and then Mr. Klippenstein, and Mr. Ross.


Because we weren't certain of what the direction of the evidence-in-chief might be this morning, we haven't been able to complete our discussions amongst ourselves of which areas we would open and how long this might take.


Accordingly, I would request, Madam Chair, that we have an adjournment for perhaps a half hour so that counsel might talk among themselves.  I believe this would have the net effect of shortening the time that would be required for cross-examination and would enhance the orderliness of our cross-examination.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, we can do that, Mr. Pape.  Before we do, because that was my question, you said yourself, Mr. Klippenstein and Mr. Ross were going to cross-examine?


MR. PAPE:  I don't know if anyone else has an expectation to cross-examine.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, do you expect to cross-examine?


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  I will be cross-examining, and, from my understanding, I will probably follow counsel in order.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  We will take a half hour break, then, and return at 10:15 a.m.


--- Recess taken at 9:45 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 10:36 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Mr. Pape?


MR. PAPE:  Madam Chair, thank you for --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Pape --  Thank you.


MR. PAPE:  Madam Chair, thank you for allowing counsel time to consider their cross.  This is one of those occasions when taking a bit more time to plan means, in fact, that the net result will be that the time is shortened to do the work.

Cross-examination by Mr. Pape:


MR. PAPE:  I want to start with a question to Dr. Woodford.


Mr. Woodford, my name is Arthur Pape, and I am counsel for the Saugeen Ojibway Nation, and I think you know that Whitfield Russell prepared an expert report for Saugeen Ojibway Nation for these proceedings.


You are familiar with Mr. Russell's report, are you not?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  Yes.  And I want to ask you a question about something that you said in answer to your -- to a question that was asked of you for purposes of your pre-filed evidence-in-chief.  And you weren't asked about that this morning, but it is still part of your pre-filed evidence, and unless your counsel tells me that he's withdrawing that portion of your pre-filed evidence, then I have to ask you a question or two about that.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Pape, again, my practice as applicant counsel is not to ask examination-in-chief when it has been the subject matter of pre-filed testimony.  And so the reason why I did not engage in examination-in-chief was because it had been pre-filed, and it remains on the record, and it has been adopted as evidence of Dr. Woodford in this proceeding.


MR. PAPE:  Well, that's fine, Madam Chair.  I just wanted to clarify that.  I didn't hear it adopted, but if it was, that's fine.  That's fine.


 MS. NOWINA:  Actually, I don't recall it being adopted either, Mr. Nettleton.  Should we do that?


MR. NETTLETON:  It was, ma'am.  It was adopted as parts of Exhibit A-5-3 and A-5-4.  Both of those are pre-filed exhibits for the direct evidence and the curriculum vitae of Dr. Woodford.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you for the clarification.


MR. PAPE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Pape.


MR. PAPE:  So we finally get to talk.


Dr. Woodford, you said in your pre-filed evidence -- you were asked the question, do you agree -- well, you were asked if you had reviewed the evidence of Mr. Russell which was prepared for the Saugeen Ojibway Nation, and you said you had.


And you were asked:

"Do you agree with the manner in which he has portrayed the report referred to above?"


That is, do you agree with the manner in which Mr. Russell has portrayed your report.


And your answer was:

"No.  His evidence does not fairly depict the content of the report.  As noted at pages 52 and 53, the conclusions are that while series compensation can be introduced on the Ontario power grid, additional study is first warranted and, in any event, operational complexities will arise."


Right?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  That's your evidence?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  I wonder if you would, please, tell me and explain in somewhat more detail what part of Mr. Russell's report or evidence does not fairly depict the content of your report, in your mind?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.  First of all, I would like for the record to say I am "Mr.", not "Dr.".  As much as I would love to be a doctor, I am "Mr.".


So far as the request on clarifying this issue with Mr. Russell's evidence, on paragraph 30 of his evidence, which in the paper I have is page 22 -- paragraph 30.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.


MR. WOODFORD:  On paragraph 30, in the first sentence:

"Series capacitors will work in lieu of the Bruce-Milton lines, but that some additional fine-tuning is necessary".


I would contend that it is more than fine-tuning, that it requires significant system study and design to accomplish effective series capacitors.  That's the first item.


The second item I would like to refer to is paragraph 31, the following paragraph.  Hydro One has stated that series capacitors cannot be installed until 2011 at the earliest.  This position seems unnecessarily restrictive.


As evidence given this morning by myself, the requirement for system studies and design studies before the technical specification is even prepared would, for this complex application in southwest Ontario, require a year.


And if we project from approval for the necessary permitting, and then the year of study, and then the two-and-a-half years we put in our design guideline to installation, on page 14 of our report, then that would certainly go into 2011.


And it is on these points that I have made my issue.


MR. PAPE:  So I take it then that, dealing first with paragraph 30, that you considered that the term "some additional fine-tuning is necessary" might be intended to be at odds with what you have said in your report about the studies that are required to be completed for design purposes and for specification purposes?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  All right.  And as far as the timing issue goes, if I understand correctly, the evidence in your report and the evidence that you gave this morning, the chart, or the Venn diagram that is in your own report on timing does not include any estimate of the timing for the studies that you have said are necessary.


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes, that's right.


MR. PAPE:  So in fact, you -- so you felt that, I take it, that in what he said in paragraph 31, Mr. Russell may have been underestimating the time that was set out in your report as being necessary in order to implement a series capacitor plan.


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  All right. 


Those are my questions of this witness, Madam Chairman.  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Woodford.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Pape.  Mr. Klippenstein, you are next.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Cross-examination by Mr. Klippenstein:


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Mr. Woodford and, again, Mr. Chow.  Mr. Woodford, my name, of course, is Murray Klippenstein and I am appearing as counsel for Pollution Probe.


I have just one topic to deal with and a few questions for Mr. Woodford.  If you could turn up your report, the due diligence study, and turn to page 89 -- sorry, page 13 of the report?


Madam Chair, Members of the Panel, that's, in the event you happen to have Pollution Probe's cross-examination reference book handy, Exhibit K3.1.  This appears at page 89 of that compilation.


Mr. Woodford, underneath the first figure or chart on that page, the next paragraph begins:

"An overview of a sample series capacitor project timeline is shown in figure 1.2.4.2."


Do you see that?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Then continuing down that page and for most of the next page, you come to figure 1.2.4.2, which is entitled "Sample Project Timeline."  Do you see that?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So that approximately one page deals with the timeline issues you discussed earlier; is that right?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, just as a preliminary observation that occurred to me, it appears that that topic is dealt with on page 13 underneath the heading 1.2.4, "Number of Installations".


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Since it deals with a timeline rather than number of installations, I am just wondering, should there be another heading in there?  Is that just an editorial issue, or am I imagining things?


MR. WOODFORD:  That might be appropriate.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I am just wondering, this page or so on the sample timeline, would this be an example of one of the things that you mentioned you received comments or guidelines or input from Hydro One on with respect to this?


MR. WOODFORD:  No.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I notice that the first sentence of that section refers to a sample timeline, and the figure uses the same word, "sample".


So this was an example that you took -- put forward as something that might be the case; is that fair?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think those are all of my questions for Mr. Woodford.


Mr. Chow, if I could address some questions to you?


Just in terms of the timeline issues and the context of this report, do you know when you received the ABB report on the series compensation, the one that dealt with the 70 percent compensation level?


MR. CHOW:  When did I receive it, or for this purpose of this study?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  When it was received by Hydro One.


MR. CHOW:  I don't know that, sir.  What we did for the study is that we provided Mr. Woodford a copy of the report as part of the work.  When the report was actually received by Hydro One from ABB, I have no knowledge.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  When I go to the reference section of the Woodford report, which is at page 53, I see the first reference to something called:  The series capacitor application in Ontario, report number -- submitted by ABB Inc.


Is that the report that looked at series capacitors at a 70 percent level?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That's the report that, I think, suggests looking at a 30 percent level?


MR. CHOW:  I don't believe so.  I believe the 30 percent is the IESO recommendation.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Do you know which report that IESO recommendation on 30 percent came from?


MR. CHOW:  Off the top of my head, I don't know which one.  I think Mr. Falvo had gone through a number of series of reports or SIA reports that indicate that 30 percent is more appropriate for southwestern Ontario.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  In any case, the next two references on page 53 are to two different IESO reports which deal with series capacitors, and they're dated April 2006 and July 2006; right?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  I believe one is the report and the third item on that reference list is an addendum to that report.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Right.  Those would have been the reports, then, in follow-up to the ABB report which raised the suggestion of looking at a 30 percent series capacitor level; is that right?


MR. CHOW:  I believe so.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And you would have got those reports approximately when they were put out, which would be in April and in July of 2006; is that right?


MR. CHOW:  Well, they were finalized on those dates.  The due diligence study was done in 2007, so we requested those reports from the IESO and they provided those references.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Are you saying that you didn't look at those IESO reports prior to 2007?


MR. CHOW:  I have, but for the purpose of the due diligence report, the consultant needs reference information and those were the reports that we provided to the consultant.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, when I look at those IESO reports from April 2006 and July 2006, which followed up the earlier ABB report, and those IESO reports suggested looking at 30 percent level.  It appears that it took from at least July 2006 until the date of the RFP on the due diligence study - namely, March 1, 2007 - for OPA to do the next step in investigating series capacitors; right?


It took from at least July 2006 to March 2007 to put out the RFP; right?


MR. CHOW:  Yes. 


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, given that Hydro One's position with respect to this application and the Bruce transmission generally seems to be one of urgent -- urgency.  I hear that word used -- why did it take from July to March to take the next step on investigating series capacitors?  


MR. CHOW:  In the development of the overall plan, as we have covered a number of times at this hearing, the series capacitors, at 30 percent, is considered as an interim measure.  


It is an interim measure that would be put in place if there was going to be significant delay in the in-service of the proposed Bruce-to-Milton line.


The urgency, in terms of implementing the solution of the plan, was more importantly the near-term measure first.  That's -- the staging of the urgency of the work is near-term measure, developing the work for the application, for the Bruce-to-Milton line, the regulatory approval and 

the -- and that project to get on, the urgency timeline.  


Then we looked at the interim measure, if it is in fact to be implemented, we are seeking a due diligence study to ensure that the equipment that we are putting in service in Ontario is appropriate.  


I think it has to come from the series of studies was done looking at series compensation.  I believe ABB study says, is that subsynchronous resonance is a concern, which is always the first thing that people are concerned about when adding series compensation.  And that report essentially said you could find a way to mitigate it.  So that's the first report.  


So it looked into the series compensation at that time.  And that study was sponsored by Hydro One.


Then after that the IESO looked at series compensation as a means to increase transfer capability of the Bruce -- that's the two reports that they did -- and concluded it does increase transfer capability.


The level of compensation they identify that would be the most appropriate is at 30 percent, mainly because the issue with thermal overloading.  


When we come along and say, okay.  Fine.  The system does allow you -- the series capacitor to increase system capability.  Yes, much of the major concern with subsynchronous resonance has been dealt with by ABB, so we got enough assurance that it is a reasonable technology to be used.  It is capable of increasing the transfer capability.


So we are coming along, basically the square circle, by doing one final check on the due-diligence aspect.  And this is not -- this is for more of the equipment aspect.  


This is asking not to review the look of the system-capability aspect.  It's more as you see in our terms of reference.  It is concerning the equipment itself.  


Now, then the -- we are now at a point where the IESO indicated it is 30 percent.  ABB have identified the subsynchronous resonance is manageable.  


What we want the study to do now is, given those information which is provided in the two reference, have an expert take a look at it on the equipment side of the installation, on any special feature that would be necessary, because of the installation it would be putting into in southwestern Ontario is not the typical radial fashion where there is a hydroelectric generator on one hand, at a long distance to the grid, such as the B.C. system or the Hydro Quebec system.


We are talking about putting series capacitors into the heart of a critical network.  That's why the additional degree of due diligence we are doing here.  


So I believe all those require sequence, require certain timeline to accomplish the study.  It leverage on each of the study results.  And at the end we have our conclusion.


It has the certain capability.  We have to be diligent, in terms of studying and specification of the equipment.  And I believe that we have done sufficient study to look at series compensation.  And it is available as an interim solution.  


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So you mentioned that your view, before the March 2007 RFP that Mr. Woodford responded to, your view was that the issue was no longer system capability, but it was on the equipment side.  I think that is what you said. 


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  None of the study really have at this point looked at the need to change the protection system.  


The impact on installation level on all the transformers on the station, the resonance condition that may occur.  And since Mr. Woodford is an expert in the area of subsynchronous resonance, we also asked him to take a look at the ABB study, the methodology, the way they studied that particular phenomena, and which Mr. Woodford did, and just based -- I believe Mr. Woodford concluded, generally, the same conclusion as ABB, but again added a note of caution, that even at a lower compensation level, it is still necessary to take a close look of synchronous resonance.  I think he identified the Nanticoke units, in fact, is more susceptible than the Bruce units.  


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, my question, Mr. Chow, originally was, you know, in view of the evidence this morning about this sample timeline and how long that would take, and several years, and the possible implications of such a timeline, my question is, why did it take eight months for OPA, from the IESO studies in July 2000 (sic), eight months to get out an RFP, until March 2007?  Why eight months?  And now we are looking at the timeline that we have discussed this morning?  


MR. CHOW:  Sir, that's -- you know, we have certain resources.  We have the IPSP that we have to work on.  As you know, we filed last August.  It is only so much resources we can spend on every project that we work on.


As you know, the IPSP contains vast scope of work that requires to be addressed.  That is just what the resources allow us to concentrate our effort on.  


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, I look at the due diligence study, which was then delivered by Mr. Woodford and others.  And it is dated October 5th, 2007.  Presumably you got it around that date of October 5th, 2007, right?  


MR. CHOW:  We received the final report at that time.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  Now, presumably, before you received the final report in October, you had seen -- you had the meeting in July, I think, right?  


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And given the importance that the Woodford report attaches to further studies, presumably you knew in July of 2007 that the Woodford report would recommend further studies, right?  


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  And I asked Mr. Sabiston, I believe, a day or two ago, whether since the date of this report, October 2007, there had in fact been any specific actions taken by OPA in follow-up to obtain those studies.  And as I recall, the answer was, essentially, "no".  Is that fair?  


MR. CHOW:  I believe that is what he said.  


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  So let me just repeat the question to you.  


After receipt of this October 2007 report until today's date, have there been any requests for proposals or any other specific actions taken to obtain the studies referred to in this report?  


MR. CHOW:  I can't speak for Hydro One.  We have not indicated to Hydro One to initiate some of the studies identified.


Again, I can't speak on Hydro One's behalf.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  But it is fair to say that as of today's date, you know of no steps taken by anyone to initiate the studies recommended in the Woodford report?


MR. CHOW:  I don't know of any study.  I do understand a similar type of project with series compensation is being worked on right now by Hydro One.  This is the Nobel series capacitor.


I believe some of that work would be applicable, for example, developing the first standard for Ontario for series capacitors.  There are some generic common items that will be developed as part of that project for series compensation, but, again, I cannot speak on Hydro One's behalf.  


But those are some of the work in the background that would be advancing certain aspect of the study that would be useful for -- if it is needed in southwestern Ontario.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  But the specific studies referred to in the Woodford report and the first step to obtain those studies, those have not been done?


MR. CHOW:  Not to my knowledge.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Why not?


MR. CHOW:  I can't speak for Hydro One.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Why not OPA?


MR. CHOW:  OPA doesn't do those studies.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I seem to recall Mr. Sabiston saying he hadn't -- to his knowledge, Hydro One had not taken any steps, because OPA had not directed them to do anything.


MR. CHOW:  I can't speak on John's behalf, Mr. Sabiston's behalf.


OPA is in the position to urge, to recommend, but there is nothing really to say for technical matter and assets, equipment matter, that Hydro One cannot proceed with their own study.


And I believe with the Nobel station, that type of work is being done.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Right.  I think it was on Monday, I took the first panel that you were on through a number of documents, beginning with the IESO report in June of 2006 and documents produced by OPA and by Hydro One, and pointed to numerous situations where the various bodies had made it clear that, in their view, the new transmission line was the only option.  


Do you remember those documents and that discussion?


MR. CHOW:  My belief is that the transmission line is the recommended -- is the preferred option, and the series compensation is being proposed as an interim measure, in case that transmission line is late.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And do you recall, when I went through those documents, there were several references that repeatedly said the interim measures, such as series compensation, should not be seen to be a replacement for the new line?  Do you remember those references?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Is it possible that somehow in all of this OPA and Hydro One have consciously or unconsciously dragged their feet a bit on these studies because they didn't want series compensation to be seen as a viable alternative to a new line?


MR. CHOW:  No.  Again, we indicated the urgency is to get the near-term measure in.  Much of the work right now is looking at providing the necessary -- the reactive power, dynamic and static, that is needed in Nanticoke and Middleport to allow the system to operate in 2009 and 2010.  That's where a lot of the work is -- reside.


So I believe the action is happening.  It just isn't maybe necessarily in the sequence that you would like to see done.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  All right.  Let me turn specifically to the issue of the timeline on a going-forward basis with respect to the possibility of implementing series compensation.


A minute ago, you mentioned the Nobel station and the work being done on series compensation there; right?


You mentioned that series compensation work would be probably of a generic and back ground nature that would be helpful to the series compensation work potentially on the Bruce to Milton line; right?


MR. CHOW:  Not for the line.  It is for the southwestern Ontario system.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  For the series compensation in southwestern Ontario?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That generic and background work on series compensation on the Nobel station might well help -- if there is timeline constraints in southwestern Ontario, it would help with the knowledge a bit; right?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And -- 


MR. CHOW:  If I could add something, being the first bank, any bank that is the first bank to be installed in Ontario does require additional time, more than normal.


Typically, most of equipment to set the transformer would already have a standard specification.  We would know what colour it is, what green switch or yellow switch.  I don't mean it that simply.


Currently, there is no standard specification for series capacitors.  It just as there is no standard specification for static VAR compensator.  Those are new equipment that Hydro One is installing on the system.


It has to be developed for the condition in Ontario.  So it will reduce the lead time of being the first bank on the system.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, I looked at that draft planning specification and I noticed -- I forget what section it was.  I'm looking for it.  Anyway, it specified grey.  Does it always have to be grey?  Like why not fuchsia or taupe or something?


MR. CHOW:  I'm not the expert on colour.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Anyway...


Going back to Mr. Woodford's report and the timeline that was mentioned on page 13 and 14, if you could go back to that?


On page 13, I read the sentence -- the first sentence, and let me continue with the second sentence.  It says:  

"An overview of a sample series capacitor project timeline is shown in figure 1.2.4.2.  Task 1.0 (specification preparation) and task 2.0 (request for proposals and award) can require a significant amount of time depending on staff availability and work load of the purchasing utility."


Now, first of all, again, these are samples.  This is a sample timeline that originates with Mr. Woodford; is that right?


MR. WOODFORD:  That's correct, yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That sentence notes that the time for those steps can depend on staff availability and work load; right?


MR. WOODFORD:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, Mr. Chow, it appears that there is some room to make these items a priority and affect the length of the timeline.  Would it be fair to say, if Hydro One made these steps a priority, that might be a way to reduce the timeline?  Is that fair, Mr. Chow?


MR. CHOW:  That's fair.  Again, my reservation is that I am not here to speak for Hydro One.


In general, that would -- yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, I then turn to page 49 of the report and there is a checklist.


On 49, 50, 51, we see different headings, "Prefeasibility Study", "System Impact Study", "Facilities Study", "Equipment Specification".  Do you see that?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I notice at the end of that section on page 52 -- first of all, Mr. Woodford, I think you mentioned that this checklist was suggested to you by Hydro One; is that right?


MR. WOODFORD:  I am not sure who suggested it.  I think it was Mr. Chow, in that meeting, said it would be good to have a checklist, and we went back and prepared it.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Good.


And then on page 52, just before the new heading of "conclusions", it says:

"The sequence of the checklist items may be adjusted to accommodate the overall schedule of the project."


Do you see that?  Mr. Chow, that appears to allow that if one directs some effort to these series of studies, there is room to work with the sequence and the arrangements to try to minimize the timeline.  Is that fair?


MR. CHOW:  That's fair, to a certain degree.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


Now, I guess this relates to one of my earlier questions.  I see that heading is called "action checklist", but there hasn't been any action, right, on that checklist?


MR. CHOW:  As I said, as I covered already.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Now, let's just say, supposing we did want action on this checklist, and supposing the Board was concerned about this time-line issue, would it be possible, let's say for OPA, let's say yourself, together with the Hydro One folks -- and they're all here at this hearing.  They're in this room, practically -- to have a dinner -- I'll pay for it -- and come up with a concentrated effort to produce a timeline as tight as possible to present to this Board before the end of the hearing?  Would that be possible?


That might -- I wonder if it might be helpful to the Board so they can see what they're dealing with on this timeline issue.  Is that something you could commit to?


MR. CHOW:  We could.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Is that an undertaking, Mr. Klippenstein?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think so, yes, except the part about paying for dinner.


[Laughter]


MS. NOWINA:  It's on the record, Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. NETTLETON:  That was actually very much part of the undertaking.  And there was no statement about where, I might add.


MR. PAPE:  There's a food court downstairs.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's take it as an undertaking.


MR. MILLAR:  J6.1, Madam Chair.

UNDERTAKING J6.1:  TO PRODUCE A TIMELINE FOR THE ITEMS IN SECTION 5.4.4.


MS. NOWINA:  And we'll only take the result of the dinner as the undertaking, not the dinner itself.


MR. NETTLETON:  That would be the bill.


MS. NOWINA:  No.  We won't take the bill.  And that would be a revised schedule, Mr. Klippenstein?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That would be a timeline for the items in section 5.4.4, being the various studies arising from the Woodford report, with an eye to -- and as efficient a timeline as possible.


And those are my questions, then, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just so I am clear, that that, in a sense, is an undertaking to determine how, if at all, the one-year required for studies could be condensed?  It's not -- is it also going towards the additional two-and-a-half years?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I'm sorry, I think --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Are you looking for the total timeline?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  My intention was, because this is, I think, the issue that was raised this morning, is the total timeline, including both the studies and the various aspects mentioned by the panel this morning, which total two-and-a-half years or three-and-a-half years or whatever it was.


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, perhaps I misunderstood the undertaking.  But my understanding of the undertaking is to have the OPA work with Hydro One to prepare a more detailed timeline of the steps that would be required that are contained in the three-and-a-half-year time period that was heard today in examination-in-chief with Mr. Woodford.


And what I am sensing now is an undertaking to say, Well, we don't only just want the detail.  We want you to compress that time period into as short a period of time as possible.


What -- if that's my friend's intention, I don't think that is the subject matter or can be the proper subject matter of an undertaking made with witnesses -- i.e., Hydro One -- who are not on the stand.


I think it is a proper and fair undertaking to have OPA undertake to work with Hydro One to set out this schedule or the timeline.  But that timeline will be whatever the two parties believe is reasonable for purposes of implementing the series capacitor report that Mr. Woodford has set forth.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think I went with Mr. Chow through a number of questions in which he suggested -- he agreed with me that there was some room to manoeuvre on this timeline, including the generic or background usefulness of the Nobel studies in the work, the degree of priority that Hydro One and OPA give to it, the reference to the sequencing on page 52.


And so my question is directed to having OPA and HONI come up with a specific timeline that is as compressed and as short as possible for consideration by this Board, because I don't know if this was -- how explicit this was made, but one possible inference arising from the earlier direct testimony of this panel is that series compensation is irrelevant because the timelines don't allow it.


And my concern is that this panel might feel like it's being forced to approve the line because a series compensation package alternative is no longer, time-wise, available.


MS. NOWINA:  That was how I understood your request, Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, again, I think if the intent is to have Hydro One provide input to OPA, to provide a timeline for purposes of fulfilling the action item that is included in Mr. Woodford's report, that is the nature of the undertaking.


I just can't -- and there is no one from Hydro One here to accept an undertaking that says -- and I am going to prepare it, you know, on a basis that is so expedited that it is going to preclude other projects.


I don't know what my witnesses --


MS. NOWINA:  Well, in fairness, Mr. Nettleton, he didn't say that.  He didn't say on a basis that is so expedited that it would preclude other -- he asked them to take into consideration the things that Mr. Chow had mentioned, that had not been specifically considered in the Gantt chart that has been before us, and to identify what the time frame would be, if -- and that might be a shorter time frame if they took all those things into consideration.


So if you can't commit on behalf of Hydro One, how do we go about doing that?


MR. NETTLETON:  Again, I think if the undertaking is made such that OPA works with Hydro One to prepare a detailed Gantt chart on -- that provides timelines for purposes of that new Gantt chart, I think Hydro One is -- OPA can work collaboratively with Hydro One for that purpose.


MS. NOWINA:  Taking into consideration the facts of the Nobel project, which will give some new information, and the other considerations that have been discussed today.


MR. NETTLETON:  Right.  But I am concerned by Mr. Klippenstein's characterization of the evidence.  This will be the subject matter for argument, but the timeline is not the reason for why series capacitors is not being accepted as the alternative.  It doesn't meet the need.


MS. NOWINA:  And that is certainly something that can be examined in argument.


The other point I would like to make, Mr. Nettleton, is, you have said "a more detailed timeline".  I don't think Mr. Klippenstein actually ever said that.  He said, taking these other things into account.


So I wouldn't want to give the impression that we're expecting a great deal more detail than we're seeing in the chart before us.


We're expecting more or less the same kind of chart, with those -- the information that we have just discussed taken into consideration.  On that basis can we take the undertaking?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Chow?  Thank you.


Mr. Klippenstein, that concludes your questions?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.


Thank you very much, members of the panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross?


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have no questions for this witness.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  Mr. Pappas?  Mr. Fallis, I'm sorry, do you have questions?


MR. FALLIS:  No, I have no questions.  The answer is there but...


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas.


MR. PAPPAS:  Oh, actually...


MS. NOWINA:  Is your mike on, Mr. Pappas?


MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.  Actually, I was just hoping to speak to the other counsel before I spoke.  I didn't realize that we're going to be this quick.  I thought --


MS. NOWINA:  We can take a ten-minute recess if you would like to do that, Mr. Pappas.  Would you like us to do that?


MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will take a ten-minute recess.


--- Recess taken at 11:27 a.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 11:45 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Mr. Pappas, what have you decided?


MR. PAPPAS:  Well, from everything I have heard this morning, I initially expected I might be at this a while, but I would say that all my thoughts have been covered, and there is no need for me to make us have to have to wait for a lunch break.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you very much, Mr. Pappas.


MR. PAPPAS:  You're welcome.


MS. NOWINA:  The Board panel doesn't have any questions either.


Mr. Nettleton, do you have any re-examination?


MR. NETTLETON:  I don't know if Mr. Millar has any questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, and I do not.


MR. NETTLETON:  I have no re-examination, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  That completes this panel.  Thank you very much for your time, gentlemen.


Let's discuss the schedule going forward.

Procedural matters:


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, can we have the lands panel here this afternoon?


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, originally I had anticipated, based on some discussions that had transpired yesterday, that we were going to be at this all day today.


I had taken, from the comments made yesterday, that the lands panel would be heard next week, because the Technical conference would go on Friday.


I understand that two of the members of the lands panel are in Milton and in Barrie.  And it's going to take some effort to have them come and attend for this afternoon.


Now, we could do that, we could take those steps, and we're quite happy to do that, but it's going to take some time just for distance and travel, and I am not sure if at least one of the panel members would be in attire that we would typically see, but he may be a lot more comfortable than any of us in this room.


With that --


MS. NOWINA:  We could take a long lunch break and all changes our clothes to make him feel comfortable.  


[Laughter]


MR. NETTLETON:  I am all for that.


That said, I am at your -- I leave it to the Board and panel to determine what we can use the time.  I too am concerned about ensuring that we use available time.


That said, in terms of overall scheduling, I would see the technical panel -- or the Technical conference proceeding for some but not necessarily all of the day on Friday.


I would think that Friday would consume -- or there would be sufficient time for parties to ask questions on Friday, and then carry over 'til Monday.


The lands panel will most certainly be available at your convenience next week, suitably attired and all.  And in that case, that the lands panel can come up and testify in advance for at least the parties that have counsel represented here, they would certainly be able to do that.


I can tell you that right now, in terms of my intentions for cross-examination of intervenor panels, I intend to be spending most of my time with Mr. Russell, some time with Mr. Lanzalotta, and very little time with Mr. Brill.  And I think I can accomplish all three of those cross-examinations within the time allocated for Thursday and Friday.


So keeping that in mind, I think there would still remain a window of opportunity for any questions of the land panel by other interested parties, intervenors that have registered in this proceeding, to happen on Tuesday, Wednesday, and perhaps even part day Monday, depending on how much time is consumed with respect to the questioning of the Technical conference.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let me run through the schedule then as I hear it -- as you say it, and then ask the other parties what their expectations are.  And there is, of course, their examination-in-chief for their expert witnesses as well.


So assuming that we stand down for the rest of the day today, then on Friday we will have the technical presentation, questions and cross-examination on that, and Monday, cross-examination on that, probably completing by noon on Monday.


The lands panel could be available for Monday afternoon and for all day Tuesday, perhaps Wednesday as well, although if we have extra time in the schedule, I have to tell you it is our preference to stand down on Wednesdays, which is our normal day to stand down, and would be helpful to us.


Then on Thursday -- Thursday is Mr. Russell; is that correct?  Thursday is Mr. Russell.  And perhaps maybe Mr. Lanzalotta, Mr. Brill, Thursday and Friday; is that -- they will all be here Thursday and Friday?


MR. FALLIS:  Mr. Brill will be here Thursday.  He has to return to Florida late Thursday night, so he --


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So Mr. Brill for certain on Thursday.  And the others?


MR. PAPE:  Mr. Russell is available generally.


MS. NOWINA:  Thursday and Friday?  All right.  And Mr. Lanzalotta?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  My present arrangement for Mr. Lanzalotta and Mr. Fagan is Friday, I think is my assumption.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So the order will be Mr. Brill, then Mr. Russell, and then Mr. Lanzalotta for the expert witnesses.


Now, that is two days.  Mr. Nettleton says that his cross-examination will be primarily for Mr. Russell, and will not be very extensive.


Examination-in-chief for those -- for your expert witnesses, how long do you expect that to take?


MR. PAPE:  I think examination-in-chief of Mr. Russell may take an hour.  I wouldn't think more.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Ross, Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  Mr. Brill will be in the same order, about an hour.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  And Mr. Klippenstein?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  An hour to an hour and a half.


MS. NOWINA:  That seems manageable then in the time frame that we have.


I assume that -- well, let me ask.  Does anyone else plan to cross-examine the expert witnesses from the intervenors besides Mr. Nettleton?


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, it is possible Staff will have a few questions, but it wouldn't amount to much.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. PAPPAS:  Madam Chair --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas?  Your microphone is not on.


MR. PAPPAS:  There we go.  I will also be cross-examining Mr. Russell.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Pappas, our time frame on those two days will be very brief, so we will have to keep it to a minimum and ensure you are not covering other items, but that's fine --


MR. PAPPAS:  Well, since it is next week, this is actually the longest time space I have had to prepare something.


MS. NOWINA:  To prepare.


MR. PAPPAS:  And I have nothing else that I have to do.  I am not dealing with the land issues.  I will concentrate on providing the best, shortest questions I can so that I will facilitate --


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Pappas.


MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Zacher?


MR. ZACHER:  Yes, Madam Chair, likely not, but it is possible, very brief cross-examination.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.


Mr. Barlow?


MR. BARLOW:  How do you turn the mic on?


I'm still concerned --


MS. NOWINA:  It didn't work, Mr. Barlow.


MR. BARLOW:  Oh, there it is.


MS. NOWINA:  There you go.


MR. BARLOW:  There are people from Hanover that may want to come down to the hearing on the land, and for them to come down on the chance that they might be able to listen on Monday, can we ensure that they are going to have the panel on the Tuesday, so that they can plan, if -- they're out farming, they're doing all those things, and it is not easy to get two days away at this time of the year.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Barlow, we can assure you that the lands panel will be here on Tuesday for the full day.


MR. BARLOW:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  So if we will have cross-examination of them on Monday, that could be some of the counsel present.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, if it assists, what Staff can do, with the assistance of the Board Secretary's office is -- we don't normally do this, but we could send out a note to all parties.  I know Mr. Barlow is here, of course, but there may be other landowners.  We have received some calls asking when panel number 3 will be up.  Maybe we can send a note to all parties saying that for certain -- as a date certain, panel 3 will be up on Tuesday.


MS. NOWINA:  That would be helpful.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


All right.  That's what we will do.  We will stand down then until nine o'clock tomorrow morning.


Mr. Nettleton, you have another matter?


MR. NETTLETON:  I do.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry.


MR. NETTLETON:  I do.


MS. NOWINA:  Another issue?


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, yesterday I received from Mr. Ross documents relating to his aids to cross-examine panel 3.


There were five documents that he provided me with, and I will be objecting to those documents, at least some of those documents, if not all of them, being entered as exhibits and used for purposes of cross-examination given their content.


It strikes me that since we do have time, that that issue could be heard and considered today, and that would, I think, facilitate the preparation of panel 3, given that panel 3 is not going to be up until next week.


If that would be -- if we could do that now, that would be great.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Just a moment, Mr. Nettleton.


[Board Panel confers.]


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, we haven't read the documents, so first perhaps you could tell me what the general nature of your concerns are.  Before you do that, what I am thinking is, if we want to do that, that we might take a lunch break so we can read the documents and be prepared for the discussion when we come back.


MR. NETTLETON:  Okay, yes.


MS. NOWINA:  In order to do that, it would be helpful to know the general nature of your concerns.


MR. NETTLETON:  There really are two concerns, Madam Chair.  The first relates to the content of the documents.  Three of the -- four of the documents, rather, relate to the topic of EMF, electromagnetic fields.


MR. ROSS:  If this helps, I would be happy to withdraw the EMF documents and deal only with the land compensation policy document, which I am sure Mr. Nettleton will be objecting to, as well.  All of the documents to do with the EMF, including the Hansard, can be withdrawn.  I can make my points without them.  


I figured they would just speed my cross, but I can take the extra time, and I will withdraw those documents.


If we could just deal with the land compensation policy, if Mr. Nettleton is objecting to that, I think it will truncate the discussion.


MR. NETTLETON:  With that clarification and acceptance of the withdrawal of four of the five documents, that lessens my concern to one document.  


The final document is entitled "The Bruce to Milton Land Acquisition Compensation Principles".  It is a document that sets out Hydro One's compensation principles for the Bruce to Milton project.


The objection that I will be raising, Madam Chair, is that the subject matter of that document relates to matters that are not within the jurisdiction of this Board and, indeed, with -- outside the Issues List and matters being considered in this proceeding.  So I am at a loss as to why that document would be included in the cross-examination even as an aid or filed as an exhibit.


It is a publicly available document.  It is a document that Hydro One has issued to landowners affected by this project.  But the subject matter of it relates to the compensation principles that Hydro One will be using for the acquisition of the land interests that it requires for this project.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's -- so everyone should be aware, if they wish to be here when we return to have this discussion, that the discussion is on the relevance of documents concerning landowner compensation.  And for those parties interested in making submissions on that point, we can return at one o'clock and have those submissions.


MR. FALLIS:  Madam Chair, one item that I'm wondering if there is an answer to, yesterday there was an undertaking given. I haven't seen any production of the -- I know there was a rate for the --


MS. NOWINA:  For the wind generators?


MR. FALLIS:  I am wondering if that has been generated yet.


MS. NOWINA:  Can you give us the status of the undertaking, Mr. Nettleton?


MR. NETTLETON:  Can I provide that status after the lunch break?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, you may.  We will break and resume at one o'clock.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:13 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated. 


Mr. Nettleton, we will let you give us a little bit more information on your concerns, and then --


MR. NETTLETON:  Sure.


MS. NOWINA:  -- we'll ask for submissions from others. 


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

Submissions by Mr. Nettleton:


MR. NETTLETON:  As I indicated prior to the break, yesterday I received from my friend Mr. Ross documents that he intends to use for purposes of aiding his cross-examination of panel 3.  And I very much was -- wish to thank Mr. Ross for the advance of the documents.  I think that was in keeping with the Board's practice, and it was helpful, because it provides an opportunity to ensure that the documents can be considered in advance and any concerns that do arise can be considered prior to the panel being empanelled.  So my gratitude to Mr. Ross for that.


Mr. Ross has included a document entitled "Bruce-to-Milton transmission reinforcement project, land acquisition compensation principles".


This document is a comprehensive document dealing with the principles that Hydro One intends to use and is committed to using for purposes of voluntarily acquiring interest in land with respect to the Bruce-to-Milton project.  


It is a document, though, that also speaks to the topic of acquisition process.  And that is addressed in pages 2 and 3 of the document.  


Section 3, however, is really the intent of the document and the meat of the document, if you will, as it goes into significant detail of the compensation principles that Hydro One is intending to implement and, again, is committed to implementing with respect to the Bruce-to-Milton project.  


As you are aware, panel 3 is intending to address issues 4 and 5 -- sorry, 5 and 6 of the Board's issues list.


At the outset of the hearing process, there were concerns raised about whether compensation for land acquisition would be a matter that would be considered in respect of this hearing process.


And my recollection, Madam Chair, was at the time the Board focused the issues found in issue 5 -- namely, land matters -- upon the forms of agreements and upon the process that Hydro One would be using for purposes of the land rights that it requires.  


The issues relating to expropriation, the issues relating to compensation for individual acquisitions, were not included as issues per se.  And there is good reason for that.  The reason, in my submission, is that we are looking at the costs associated with this project on the basis of the impacts of the project cost overall to the price charged for electricity to consumers.  That's the requirement under section 92 of the act.


This is not a process, in my respectful submission, where we are getting into the nitty-gritty detail of what individual land-acquisition easement costs are going to be, what individual elements of the acquisition cost component is, nor are we here to talk about the individual components of, for example, engineering costs or design costs and the like.  


So in terms of having panel 3 address matters, the matters that are appropriate and may very well be relevant that are set out in this document that my friend has included appear to be ones that relate to pages 2 and 3 -- that is to say, acquisition process -- because that is what is found in the language of section -- sorry, issue 5.2, which reads, and I quote:

"What is the status and process for Hydro One's acquisition of permanent and temporary land rights required for the project?"  


Now, Hydro One's witnesses will be familiar with the process, with the acquisition process.  And indeed, they will be able to, obviously, speak to matters that are set out in pages 2 and 3 that describe the process that Hydro One intends to use.  


But what I am concerned about, Madam Chair and Panel Members, is the appropriateness of the witnesses to have to get into detail and discussion about the remaining sections of this document, which are the compensation principles that Hydro One intends to implement in respect of the land rights that it is intending to achieve.  


Hydro One has gone on record that this document was in the process of being prepared.  During the Technical conference there was reference to that.  There were questions asked.  Mr. Schneider was very clear that a compensations-principles document was going to be prepared, and prepared in a fair and transparent manner available to all landowners.


And indeed, the rollout plan for Hydro One is to have its property agents sit down and meet individually with landowners to have questions and answers about this document prepared and discussed.  


The concern of Hydro One in this proceeding is that if there is cross-examination on these areas that are outside of this Board's purview of this hearing, it is going to interfere with the process, in Hydro One's submission, of having this rollout occur.  


The property agents very much want to have the opportunity to meet with and sit down and discuss the compensation offers that are going to be prepared on an individual landowner-by-landowner basis, and have those matters described, and have that opportunity.  


The history behind this document, Madam Chair, is important.  This is a fundamental document that is driving, we believe, the success of this project.  It is a document that has been the subject matter of consultation.  It is a document that has allowed Hydro One to meet with and hear from landowners that are directly affected by this project from across all regions.  


As you will recall, Mr. Sperduti entered his withdrawal at the beginning of this process.  And indeed, the document does speak to the fact that it was prepared in consultation with Mr. Sperduti's client, PowerLine Connections.  It is very much the product of good consultation.  


So with that, Madam Chair, in my respectful submission, if Mr. Ross is intending to have this document considered in this proceeding, there should be some parameters and limits placed upon it.  And that is to say that reference should only be allowed to be made to the issue that is set out in the issues list, and that is process, the acquisition process, and that is to say, pages 2 and 3 of the document.  


But the compensation principles -- that is to say, the remaining pages of the document, pages 4 through 16 -- should not be allowed to be the subject matter of cross-examination.  


Those are my submissions, ma'am.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.


Mr. Ross?


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, if I may.  This is a bit unusual, but I might recommend that I go next, and the reason for that is, in a motion, the only person who would normally have the right of reply would be Mr. Nettleton.  I am not necessarily taking a position on the document itself, but I do intend to take you through the legislation, and it's possible Mr. Ross or Mr. Fallis or Mr. Barlow or anyone in the gallery may disagree with what I say about that.  


If I go after them, they won't have a right to respond to any of those remarks.  So I would suggest, in fairness to the parties, it might be better if I go next, unless there are some other parties -- 


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  Go ahead, Mr. Millar. 


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

Submissions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  I have circulated copies of the relevant legislation, which you should see on your desk.  I've circulated it to the parties as well.  These are excerpts from both the Ontario Energy Board Act and the Expropriations Act.  Would you like those to have an exhibit number, Madam Chair? 


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Millar.  


MR. MILLAR:  We will call that K6.1.  

EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  EXCERPTS FROM THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD ACT AND THE EXPROPRIATIONS ACT.


MR. MILLAR:  I am not going to refer to the land-acquisition compensation-principles document.  I have seen it, and I haven't reviewed it in enough detail to know exactly what's in there.  If I hear Mr. Nettleton, he's not necessarily objecting to questions on pages 2 and 3.  But I am going to limit my remarks to the Board's jurisdiction with regard to the actual setting of compensation.  


So if you look at -- I have copied all of Part 6 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  That is on the first page of the document, but if you flip ahead a couple of pages, you get to the expropriation provision, section 99.


That is where it deals with the Board's powers for expropriation, which is in fact a -- would be a separate application if it ever came to that, but you will see that parties are entitled to apply to the Board to expropriate land and the Board will make a decision in the public interest, is what it says, in section 99.5 -- pardon me, 99(5).


You will then see directly underneath that determination of compensation, and if you flip the page, you can read section 100.  It says:

"If compensation for damages is provided for in this part and is not agreed upon, the procedure set out in clauses 26(a) and (b) of the Expropriations Act apply to the determination of the compensation, and the compensation shall be determined under section 27 of that Act or by the Ontario Municipal Board."


Now, if you parse section 100, it is not entirely clear that that is referring to the actual compensation -- compensation for an actual expropriation.


It says damages.  Then there are other references to damages under this part of the Act, you can see section 102, for example.  So it is not entirely clear that this section 100 means that the Board doesn't deal with compensation for the damages of the actual expropriation.


So I think it is helpful, then, to turn to the Expropriations Act to see what that says about this.  If you flip the page over, you will see firstly the definition section, but I would ask you to turn to the next page first, which is section 13 I have reproduced.


This deals with compensation for expropriations and related matters.  It says:

"Where land is expropriated, the expropriating authority shall pay the owner such compensation as is determined in accordance with this Act."  


So you might ask, Well who is the expropriation authority?


If you flip one page back, you will see the definition section for the Expropriations Act.  It has:

"Expropriating authority means the Crown or any person empowered by statute to expropriate land."  


So who is that?  If you again flip back to the Ontario Energy Board Act, section 99, which I have already referred to, section 99(1).1 says:

"The following persons may apply to the Board for authority to expropriate land." 


And says:

"Any person who intends to construct, expand or reinforce an electricity transmission line." 


That is 99(2), you will see there.  So the long and short of that is it is my view the expropriation authority here is not the Ontario Energy Board.  It is Hydro One Networks Inc.


I think that is generally agreed upon, and that has certainly always been practice for the Board.


So what does all that lead us to?  I guess my submission is is that the Ontario Energy Board does not have any jurisdiction to deal with the setting of compensation.  There may be some related issues.  For example, the total amount of compensation, as we have already heard, is a line item in the budget for this project, and certainly conceivably that is relevant.  


But the process by which actual compensation is set and is negotiated with landowners is not a matter that this Board -- within this Board's jurisdiction, and, in fact, in all expropriation matters in the past, these have either been sorted out between the applicant and the landowners, or, if necessary, its gone to the Ontario Municipal Board for adjudication.


You do not have the power to set compensation, set landowner compensation.


So subject to any questions you have -- I don't want to get into the document itself.  I haven't reviewed it in enough detail to comment, but I think -- I thought it would be helpful to give an overview of what the law says in this area.  


So subject to any questions you have, those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Ross.

Submissions by Mr. Ross:


MR. ROSS:  I believe what we're dealing with in this motion are two issues, and the first issue is relevance, the second issue being jurisdiction.


I have provided this argument to the Board in the past, but it unfortunately has raised its head again, so I will renew my submissions.  and the question that is to be determined with regards to relevance is what is relevant to the matters at issue as defined by the issues list.  


The issues list talks specifically about the forms of land agreements to be offered to affected landowners, and are they reasonable?  That is 5.1 of the issues list.


A document is relevant unless the Board is satisfied that it has no semblance of relevance.  That's the general state of the law with regards to relevancy.  The Board should not be called upon to conduct a minute investigation of the relevance of each part of the document where the document is broadly related to the issues raised.  


In our submission, clearly it is related to the issues raised.  The document should be entered into evidence.


The weight and treatment of the document can be determined by the Board once it is used as an aid for cross-examination.  Further, the Board, through objections from my friend, can rule on the scope of my use of the document and deal with the jurisdiction issue at that time.  


If my questions exceed what the Board determines is its jurisdiction for the use of this document, that question will be objected to, I have no doubt, and the Board can rule on that objection at that time.  I don't think that this is the time for us to be investigating each clause of the document and determining whether pages 1 or 3 are fine, but 4 isn't, and 7 is okay.  I just don't think this is the normal course of things, and I don't think it is an appropriate way to proceed in this instance.


The implementation of this policy affects the costs of the overall project, which rests squarely before this Board, and there is no doubt about the jurisdiction there.


Mr. Nettleton made some contradictory comments, one of which was that we don't want to get into the nitty-gritty detail of which each landowner is going to receive.  I certainly don't want to do that.  I am looking at it more as Mr. Millar had suggested, which is a bottom end line item disposition.


On the one hand, he says we shouldn't be getting into the nitty-gritty of this document, and on the other hand he said, quote, The document -- sorry, it's a fundamental document driving the success of this project.


The land acquisition line item is a very large line item in this project, and this policy will dictate how much of that is spent, if people accept and if people don't.


That brings me to my next argument, and that is this.  I agree absolutely that if the expropriation process is going to be engaged, that that's outside of the jurisdiction of this Board.  But the policy itself at page 3 clearly states and takes it out of the expropriation process.  


"Hydro One's offer...", i.e., this policy and how this policy translates into a contract with the landowner, "...will remain available...", and this is on column 2, paragraph 2:

"... will remain available for a limited period of time.  If parties are unable to reach a mutually acceptable term by the time Hydro One files an application to expropriate, the offer is at an end."


This offer is not within the expropriation process.  This offer is not governed by section 13 of the Expropriations Act.  This offer is not governed by section 100 of the OEB Act; that is, if the compensation is not agreed upon.  That's what 100 says, if it is not agreed upon.  


If this policy goes into place and people work with it, then it will be agreed upon.  It will be compensation that will be consensual.  I agree generally with Mr. Millar's arguments.  I just think they lack a certain amount of nuance.  I think in the normal course of things that expropriation compensation are squarely before the OMB and under the Expropriations Act, but this policy takes it out of that realm and puts it into a realm where there is no governing authority and where the test for the determination of whether the policy itself is reasonable.  


As said in the issues list, whether the offer being forwarded to the landowners is reasonable, rests squarely with this Board.


This policy will affect the offer to grant easement document, which we can see at Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 10, appendix C.  I don't need you to turn to that document.  It is simply to understand it exists in the prefiled evidence, and there is nothing to provide it any context in this application.


I think the most important thing is I will be asking questions with regards to this document that deal with total dollar figures, as well as acquisition process.


Mr. Nettleton says that we can deal with acquisition process, but not principles, and I believe that Mr. Nettleton's submission with regards to process versus principles creates a very dubious distinction, one that in fact does not exist; that throughout this document it tells you the ifs and buts for the acquisition process.  


If you do this, then you've got 75 days to do that.  If you choose to use this, then you have to engage this mechanism.  That is process.  


The fact that you use the word "principle" to describe a process does not make it any less process.


Again, I think it is of fundamental importance that the document be allowed into evidence, and I trust, as I am sure my friend does, that the Board has a competent sense of its own jurisdiction, to the extent that when an objection is raised, it can be ruled on at the appropriate time, but that we should not preclude the opportunity to put this document to the panel for the purposes of establishing overall costs and putting hypothetical scenarios; if everyone accepts this potential option, what's the total bottom-line cost going to look like?  If no one accepts this and everyone goes to the OMB, what is the bottom-line cost going to look like?  I won't be able to do that if I don't have this document.  


Pending any questions from the Board, those are my submissions.  


MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone else want to make a submission?  Mr. Fallis?  Mr. Fallis, and then Mr. Barlow.  

Submissions by Mr. Fallis:


MR. FALLIS:  The only submission I have -- I agree with what Mr. Ross has stated -- is just that if you the grant the motion made by Mr. Nettleton, the Board will in effect be prejudging the questions that might be asked by Mr. Ross or anyone else in advance of the question being asked.  


And I think that the appropriate time to raise the objection is at the point of the question being asked, and not to prejudge because a document is in, that it may be based on the -- inaccurate in that document, the reason for asking the question.  I think it is better left to the panel to judge the quality of the question and the jurisdiction for the question at the time the question is asked.


The document doesn't speak necessarily for itself.  It is there for purposes that the Board may wish to hear.  It is in a bound form, and has to be received in its totality, I guess, but it is -- the questions that will be asked as a consequence of it are the ones that you are going to either permit or not permit, and I think it should be asked and adjudicated at the time of the question, not now.


Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.


Mr. Barlow?  Is your mic on, sir?

Submissions by Mr. Barlow:


MR. BARLOW:  There we go.  


I support Mr. Ross's contention that this is not an expropriation document.  It is a pre-expropriation document that lays out terms and some principles that allow Hydro to settle land acquisition outside and before the expropriation process is engaged in.  


I also bring to your attention that Mr. Nettleton said that it was done in consultation with landowners.  I know that there was only one group of landowners, I believe, that were engaged.  I know that Mr. Ross's and probably Mr. Fallis's group had no input into the document, and they have had no opportunity to see this before it was posted, and therefore, over 60 percent of the landowners had no input into this -- of the land parcels had no input into this document at all.  


Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Barlow.


Mr. Nettleton, reply?


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

Further submissions by Mr. Nettleton:


MR. NETTLETON:  I think the nature of this process -- 


MR. QUESNELLE:  I don't know if you turned your mic off or...  


MR. NETTLETON:  I have the green light.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  


MR. NETTLETON:  I think the nature of this process, Madam Chair, is helpful, because, again, hopefully we can seek some direction from you on -- from the parties that are likely going to be most active with panel 3.  And I think that guidance is going to help tremendously, in terms of how broad the nature of cross-examination ought to be with panel 3.  


Mr. Ross has indicated that he is concerned that there is no forum for him to enquire into the impact of the costs and, as I understood it, the prudency of the land-acquisition compensation-principles document.  With respect, I disagree.  


As the Board knows, there is a rates proceeding and rate-case process which deals with those very topics about prudency and about the reasonableness of costs and about what costs are and why they have been incurred and whether or not they have been reasonably incurred.  


In my respectful submission, that is where costs that Hydro One is intending to recover from its ratepayers and issues relating to the prudency of such costs are properly considered.  They are not properly considered in minutia, and particularly in the level and detail that my friend has confirmed he wishes to proceed with in a facilities-application case.  


In my respectful submission, section 92 ought not to be given that type of interpretation.  When one talks about price to consumers, one ought to be thinking of it from the perspective of the rate and the overall cost that is charged to the consumer.  


Mr. Ross is correct that Hydro One and your filing requirements require a budget to be submitted with respect to a facilities application.  And Hydro One has that in its application.  There is a line item for lands.  It is stated to be as a large number.


And if Mr. Ross's intention is to ask questions about what comprises that line item, or asks questions about the fact that Hydro One is intending to carry out a voluntary acquisition land process, as compared to relying upon the expropriation process, I think those are fair questions.


I think it is fair to ask the question, does the 

one -- I believe it is the $120-million line item -- does it take into account the -- Hydro One's expectation of proceeding to acquire lands voluntarily with landowners.  But I think the answer is going to be very straightforward.  It is either "yes" or "no".  But that is not really what the purpose of the document is for. 


The purpose again that my friends are seeking to use it for is to ask detailed questions about detailed levels of compensation that Hydro One is setting out in a fair, transparent process outside the four corners of the OEB process with all landowners.  


And to do that and to have that made the subject matter of this proceeding is, quite frankly, again, beyond the purview of enquiry that has been set out in the issues list.


My friend indicated that he intends to use the document for purposes related to Issue 5.1.  Well, let's turn to issue 5.1.  It reads:

"Are the forms of land agreements to be offered to affected landowners reasonable?"


Madam Chair, this is not a land agreement.  There is no execution.  There is no offer.  There is -- what it is, is a description of how and what principles are going to be included in the offer to purchase lands.  


What Hydro One has included in its application are the pro forma forms of agreements.  Hydro One has included an option agreement in its application.  It has included the form of purchase and sale, and the easement agreement.  


In my respectful submission, issue 5.1 is intended to address whether the text of those forms of agreements are reasonable.  


There was no filing requirement, Madam Chair, for Hydro One to, as part of its application, include a land-acquisition compensation-principles document.  That's not what the legislation says.  That's not what your filing requirements say either.  


This document arose, again, out of a consultation process.  It was intended to address and make this process as efficient as possible, to address concerns that landowners had raised during the consultative process that was undertaken by Hydro One from the outset of the project announcement.  


Mr. Barlow has indicated that the document is suspect in some way because it hasn't been consulted to anyone other than PowerLine Connections.  


Madam Chair, I can advise that this document was provided to Mr. Ross in advance of it being distributed.  He had a chance to look at it.  I don't know if Mr. Ross saw it or provided additional copies to his clients.  


Mr. Ross says he didn't see it, and so I stand corrected.  My understanding was that he had seen it.  That's fine.


The fact is that Mr. Barlow is a member of PowerLine Connections.  The reason why Mr. Barlow, himself, and his collective other members of PowerLine Connections were consulted with was, again, addressed at the outset of this hearing, and that was that there was a large contingency of landowners across all of the geographic areas of this line.


I don't think the Board should place any bearing or relevance upon the fact that Hydro One wasn't able to go out and contact every landowner and sit down and try and negotiate with every landowner principles that it was going to use for purposes related to the land acquisition compensation, voluntary buyout principles that it would be using.


My friend, Mr. Fallis, suggests that by prejudging this document you are, in effect, prejudging the questions that may arise from it.


In respect, he is right, and that's why we're here.  I am requesting a ruling from the Board about whether a portion of this document is within the scope and ambit of this hearing, and is relevant and is within the Board's jurisdiction and should be considered as part of the issues that are outlined in the issues list.  


If it is, then I think he is right.  There still stands the opportunity for me to object to the question, but what I believe to be important now and a very effective and efficient use of time is to gain an understanding from the Panel as to whether this document is in or out at the outset, so that if it is out, all counsel will have an understanding of that and so that no attempts will be taken to try and have it in when there is a pre-ruling already made with respect to the document.


With respect, landowner-compensation principles that my friend Mr. Millar has indicated I agree wholeheartedly with.  The intention is and what the Board should be supportive of is facilitating resolution of issues outside this Board's process.


Hydro One didn't need to go and do this.  Hydro One wasn't required to go out and get a land-acquisition compensation-principles document prepared.  


It could have simply relied upon the expropriation process, and, if it had relied upon the expropriation process, none of this discussion would be relevant.  None of it would be before you, because Mr. Millar would be right.  It would all be matters for the OMB and it would be considered by the OMB as to what is relevant as terms of compensation.


It is hardly, then, the case that attempts to try and resolve matters in advance, and voluntarily and amicably, should then become the subject matter of scrutiny in a hearing process such as this.


Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Can you give us a moment to confer, please?


[Board Panel confers]


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Nettleton, I just wonder if you could take a look at the document, the principles document, and turn to page 16, section G, our submissions on the issues list and whether or not there is -- this is within the scope of the issues list.  


Could you comment on the first full sentence, I guess it is, in G and how you would reconcile that comment with your earlier comments on the jurisdiction -- or, sorry, the Issues List looking at the form of the agreement?


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Quesnelle, my comments are these.  I agree that page 16 does refer to agreements and it also talks about structure and timing, and that does seem to contemplate topics found in 5.1 and 5.2.


So if page 16 would be also included in the pages 2 and 3, I don't take any issue with that, but as it relates to the compensation principles being embedded into or incorporated into the forms of agreements, what we're dealing with in the compensation principles themselves are monetary values.


The forms of agreements that have been placed on the record of this proceeding and included in the application obviously do not include the amounts that would be included for each and every landowner.  It is simply a matter that is, I think, well understood to be a matter of negotiation between a willing buyer and willing seller.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Just a moment.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. NOWINA:  We are going to break for 45 minutes and come back with a decision on this matter.  So we will resume at approximately 2:30.


--- Recess taken at 1:50 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:01 p.m.

DECISION:


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


The issue being considered by the Board is whether the document entitled "Land Acquisitions Compensation Principles", dated April 2008, should be allowed into evidence.  Mr. Ross seeks to file this document as an aid to cross-examination, and Hydro One objected.


In deciding this matter, the Board feels that it will be helpful to the parties to use this opportunity to give guidance regarding the appropriate scope of cross-examination.


Section 97 of the OEB Act says, and I quote:

"In an application under section 90, 91, or 92, leave to construct shall not be granted until the applicant satisfies the Board that it has offered or will offer to each owner of land affected by the approved route or location an agreement in a form approved by the Board."


Hydro One has filed eight forms in its pre-filed materials.  These forms of agreements set out the rights and obligations of the parties.  They do not set out specific compensation amounts, nor do they set out how compensation will be determined.


This is consistent with the Board's practice and its jurisdiction under section 92 of the OEB Act, in that the Board has no role in setting compensation in what is intended to be a negotiated process.


If agreement is not reached through negotiation, it will be determined through an expropriation process, which will be the subject of a separate proceeding of the Board.  In that case, the Board also does not determine compensation amounts.


Therefore, the following lines of enquiry are not within the scope of this proceeding:  Specific compensation; principles that are applied to determine compensation; the process through which those principles were developed; the application of those principles in determining compensation; and the reasonableness of compensation offers.  The Board will not allow cross-examination on any of these areas.


However, as parties have pointed out, under section 96.2, in considering this application, the Board will consider the interests of consumers with respect to price.  It is relevant to consider the costs of the project, including total land acquisition costs.


Therefore, the Board will allow questions pertaining to the overall land acquisition costs, as they will be impacted by Hydro One's approach to compensation.  Our interest here is the impact on the overall economics of the project.


Further, under issue 5.2, the Board agrees that it is within scope for parties to ask questions regarding the status and the process of Hydro One's land acquisition activities.


While the Board believes that much of the document in question is irrelevant to the proceeding, with the restrictions we have outlined, we will allow the document into evidence.


Are there any questions regarding that decision?


Mr. Millar, is there another matter that we should address this afternoon?

Procedural matters:


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I am not sure, Madam Chair.  There is an issue regarding the -- or the composition of panel 3.  And it may actually be a subject of further discussion before it comes to the Board.


I know that Mr. Barlow is interested in having additional witnesses on panel 3.  That list has gone to Hydro One.  I am not sure if this decision impacts the witnesses that he wishes to hear.  And I certainly don't want to put him on the spot.


We do have a little time, if this is an appropriate time, to discuss that, or if Mr. Barlow has any comments, or Mr. Nettleton, for that matter, we might look at that now, if you think that is appropriate.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Barlow, do you want to deal with the additions to the witness list at this point?


MR. BARLOW:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, are you prepared to do that?


MR. NETTLETON:  I am happy to listen to Mr. Barlow.  I have been provided a two-page document that lists, I am guessing, over a dozen names of individuals, including mine, that he has -- that Mr. Barlow is seeking to have added.


So I am happy to listen, but -- and will likely be in a position to remark or provide remarks in response, but...


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Barlow, would you like to --


MR. BARLOW:  He's got my only list.


MR. QUESNELLE:  You have to remember your microphone, Mr. Barlow.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, perhaps we need copies.  Can we take a moment to get copies?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Barlow, while we're waiting for the copies, maybe you can begin your remarks and let us know why you are looking for additional witnesses.


MR. BARLOW:  The reason for some of the requests for people is that the landowner panel -- that I understand that only Mr. Schneider, with regards to the one issue that Mr. Ross raised, only was at maybe one or two of those meetings, and I don't know how he can comment on the rest of the document when he wasn't part of it and Mr. Nettleton did most of the negotiations under the supervision of Mr. Gregg and Mr. Sheehan.  So that was one reason.


The other reason was that on the -- there's some questions we would like to raise on -- what is it called?  The gentleman that -- the land agents, I guess it is called, okay?  And there was a man named George McDonald, okay?  And I think there is some issues that have raised -- become evident in there that we'd like to be able to raise with them so they don't happen again, and -- before the Board, and how those people are going to deal with landowners.  I think there is some issues there.


I don't have the rest of the list, so...


MS. NOWINA:  What sorts of issues, Mr. Barlow?


MR. BARLOW:  Well, and how they deal with people, their contract and how they're paid.  And I will produce those documents for you.


What we're trying to do is just make sure the Board and the landowners understand how this process -- that document that they have just done has taken a lot of work.  And I appreciate what Hydro has done, okay?  It's a big improvement, or certainly an improvement over what was there before.  And that's why we got into the process.


But no other landowner group or landowners have had a chance to have any input into it, and that's why I felt that some of these -- they should be able to ask questions of how the general principles apply to them.  I'm not talking particular issues on a particular property.  I am talking in general on their principles.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Barlow, the decision I just gave specifically excluded questioning on those matters.


MR. BARLOW:  So what is the -- can I ask then, what can the landowners actually ask of the Board?  Because -- if we're having a land panel, what are we going to discuss that they -- because this affects them very dramatically, and they have had no input into it.  They have no forum in which to -- before there was a consolidated hearings board.  There is no such forum.


You're the only forum they have in which to ask questions and to get their mind around what is happening to them.  And they have been through a year and three months of hell so far.  So -- and it's not been easy, and some of them are very sick, some of them have died, okay?  And they need some answers.


And I guess the problem we have is that it's like the landowners don't exist.  People talk, go to talk to mayors, they talk to chambers of commerce, but when we ask for a meeting, nobody will talk to us, okay?  And I think that is a very frustrating part.


And the other thing is, we have known in the past, there's some people that wouldn't even join our group or other groups because they were so -- got so upset and sick the last time, they just don't want anything to do with it.  And I think we're trying to find a way that the next line and the one after this goes better than the one we've got now.


We've made some improvements.  We need to make some further ones.  And the landowners seems to be like they don't exist.  It's, Everybody else will talk to you, but we're just going to run over you, and I think that is why I was trying to find a way for them to ask and understand the process, because nobody has helped us with the process at all, okay?


We received a document that says they're coming on our property.  We have had to fund everything out of our own pockets, and this is extremely hard on some people.  And that's why we need to improve on this process, because you're going to have a lot more lines coming in from Hydro, and if they treat people the way they have done it now -- this is not the Ontario that Mr. -- our Premier says we want fairness for all Canadians.  We haven't seen a lot of fairness so far, and that's why we want to get some fairness into this system.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, do you wish to comment?


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, Mr. Barlow's comments are obviously from the heart.  He obviously feels very strong in his views and convictions regarding the process that has happened to date.


That process, though, is, based on your ruling, not a matter that is for this Board to deal with here and in this hearing.


Mr. Barlow asked a very intelligent question of:  What issues are there for the intervenors to ask and participate in?   And those issues are those that were set out when this hearing was first set down.  They are those that are found under section 5.


I am instructed to advise you that a lot of the comments that Mr. Barlow has shared are not ones that Hydro agrees with in any way, shape or form.  Those views or characterizations of Hydro's conduct -- Hydro One's conduct are simply not accurate.  They are views that are, again, ones that we would strongly and forcefully object to and would take issue with.  


But I don't think it bodes well for the Board and for your time and for this process to be bogged down in that detail.  I think the matter that is before you is, as I understand it, a request to have additional parties added to the panel 3, and what I would suggest is that we deal with that.


Hydro One's panel comprises of three individuals, Mr. Schneider, Ms. Cameron, and Mr. Thomson.  Those individuals are available to speak to issues 4 and 5.  It is those witnesses who will be available to address the evidence that will be and has been filed, and which Hydro One relies upon in demonstrating to you that the approvals sought pursuant to section 92 can and should be granted.  


I was remiss in saying there is only three witnesses.  There are in fact four.  Ms. Cancilla will also be here.


If you are not convinced, if the evidence that they provide -- if the evidence that has opinion prefiled cannot be addressed to your satisfaction, Hydro One bears the risk that its application ought not to be approved, but that does not mean and should not mean that requests for over a dozen people should be added to panel 3, particularly when we now understand that really the reason behind it is so that matters that have been considered to be out of scope are, in fact, the very subject matter of the request.


So with all due respect to Mr. Barlow, I think that his request should be denied.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Barlow, the Board is very aware of how personal and important these matters are to landowners.  We sit here in Toronto looking out at this landscape, and we've been to Orangeville and we know that this is affecting people's homes and futures, and we really appreciate how concerned landowners are.


We operate within our jurisdiction, and there are some things that we can deal with and some things that we cannot.


The landowners do have several forum, and maybe they require more, but the ones that they do have are this proceeding.  They may be represented by counsel, and those that are have been dealing with matters far broader than just the land matters issue and, on behalf of the landowners, have been bringing forward questions on need and have had a very real and important presence in this hearing.  


So landowners are represented and they are here and we're hearing from them.


If the negotiations with Hydro One and landowners don't go as the landowners hope, then there is an expropriation proceeding, and the landowners at that point will have an opportunity to be heard.


In the EA proceeding, they will also have an opportunity to be heard.  


So we sympathize.  We encourage you to make your case in whatever forum is appropriate, but regarding the question of adding these additional witnesses, from what I have heard you say and what I can see, there would be no point to doing that, because the questions you want to ask them are out of scope for this proceeding.


I think that finishes our proceeding for this afternoon.


MR. MILLAR:  I think we're back with the technical conference tomorrow, if I am not mistaken.


MS. NOWINA:  Technical conference at 9 o'clock tomorrow morning.  We are adjourned until 9 o'clock tomorrow.


MR. FALLIS:  Just one thing before we go.  I thought I was going to get an answer to the undertaking that was promised this afternoon.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Mr. Fallis.


MR. NETTLETON:  My client says -- my client says it is still being generated.  It's in transmission.  No pun intended.


[Laughter]


MR. NETTLETON:  We don't have an answer for Mr. Fallis and are working on it as we speak.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. NETTLETON:  There is no --


MS. NOWINA:  Can we get an ETA?


MR. SKALSKI:  End of the afternoon, hopefully, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  We are now adjourned until tomorrow morning.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:18 p.m.
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